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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN  
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

Tuesday, June 21, 2022 
Virtual via Zoom Conferencing 

6:40 PM - 7:00 PM  Attendees will be able to access/enter the meeting 

7:00 PM Annual Meeting 

• Call to Order - (Timothy)

• Introductions & Welcome - (Timothy)

• Memorial Roll Call (Moment of Silence) - (Trevor)

• Other Acknowledgements - (Timothy)

• Minutes of Last Meeting Approval MOTION - (Timothy)

• Chairperson Report MOTION - (Timothy)

• Strategic Planning Task Team - (Wendy)

• Auditor’s Report MOTION - (Kelly)

• Appointment of Auditor MOTION - (Kelly)

• Introduction, Discussion & Voting on Bylaw Amendments - (Timothy)

• Outline Voting Procedure - (Kelly/Joseph)

• TWO individual MOTIONS

• Question and Answer Period - (Kelly)

• Closing Comments - (Timothy)

8:30 PM Adjournment MOTION - (Timothy) 

Agenda
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SASKATCHEWAN HOCKEY ASSOCIATION 

109th Annual General Meeting 

June 19, 2021 

Virtual via Zoom 

MINUTES 

Chairperson Tim Hubic called the 109th Annual General Meeting of the Saskatchewan Hockey 
Association (now Hockey Saskatchewan) to order at 1:02 pm. 

Chairperson Hubic introduced the Board of Directors, Staff, and Guests that were present on 
the call. 

Tim Hubic Chairperson 
Edward Watson Officer 
Len Thomas  Officer 
Sterling Switzer Officer 
Warren Stevenson Officer 
Chad Holinaty  Officer 
Trevor Norum  Officer 
Kyle Hoium Zone 1 Director 
Ryan Hennie  Zone 1 Director 
Keith Jeannot  Zone 2 Director 
Sarah Hodges  Zone 2 Director 
Greg Haubrich, Zone 3 Director 
Cortney Lacelle Zone 3 Director 
Darrel Halarewich Zone 4 Director 
Kent Armbruster Zone 5 Director 
Aaron Dmyterko Zone 6 Director 
Joe Larre Zone 7 Director 
Jeannie Gilchrist Zone 7 Director 
Rob Pollon Zone 8 Director 

Guests 
Scott Furman  Hockey Canada West Regional Director, Member Engagement 
Colleen Sostorics Incoming Zone 2 Director 
Jordan Brisbois Incoming Zone 3 Director 
Ryan Baker Incoming Zone 5 Director 
Lisa Macomber Incoming Zone 5 Director 
Al Hubbs SHA Life Member 
Mary Anne Veroba SHA Life Member 

Staff 
Jake Murray  Coordinator Marketing & Communications 
Trent Cey Manager Officiating Development 
Joseph Laprairie Manager Marketing & Communications 
Derek Derow  Senior Manager Operations 
Kelly McClintock General Manager 
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Moment of Silence 

Tim Hubic asked SHA Officer Warren Stevenson to recognize those members of the SHA who 
had passed away during the past season. 

Warren read the following: 

This past year, we have said goodbye to a number of great people tied to our hockey 
community here within our province.  On behalf of the Board of Directors and all of us at the 
SHA we wish our sincere condolences.  The following is a list of names that have been brought 
to our attention and by no means is it comprehensive – apologies in advance for any errors or 
omissions. 

Dylan Ashe (18) 

Sept. 19 
Melfort Mustangs Defenceman 
Passed away in a tragic accident 

Devin Deck (24) 

Oct. 10 
Swift Current U18 AAA 
Many years of minor hockey in Vibank/Odessa and beyond AAA in Swift 

David Cavers (58) 

Oct. 16 
HRI Coach – coached his son in Peewee house 

Jim Neilson (78) 

Nov. 6 
Big River, Sask. 
17 Year NHL Career 

Ryan Thomas (39) 

Nov. 15 
Midale – Rink guy 

Luke Neumann (22) 

Nov. 15 
Pense – Novice hockey in 2007 

Geoffrey Davis (40) 

Nov. 22 
Minor hockey in Regina 
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Fred Sasakamoose (86) 

Nov. 24 
Sandy Lake – SHHOF Inductee, Order of Canada Member 

Troy Metz (36) 

Dec. 7 
Minor hockey within Regina 

Andrew Ackerman (26) 

Jan. 19 
Minor hockey within Regina 

Ray Rambow (84) 

Jan. 20 
SHA Life Member 
Hodgeville – Regina 
He was also heavily involved in hockey being a coach and team manager of Bantam and Junior 
teams for years.  In 1973, he became President of Regina Boys Community Hockey League.  
Then in 1975, Ray took on the role of Executive Director for the Saskatchewan Amateur Hockey 
Association, a position held until his retirement in 1994. 

Gerald Cyr (Jay) (59) 

Jan. 27 
Senior player from Punnichy 

Emily Middaugh (22) 

Feb. 7 
Winnipeg, Man. 
U of R – 2018-19 
Player from Man. having played in Atla., Sask., and U.S.A. 

Zachary Gessner (27) 

Feb. 14 
Estevan, Sask. 
Estevan Minor Hockey 

Karen Aulie (57) 

February 
Rouleau, Sask. 
Hockey mom 
Co-Founder of “Hockey & Hearts” 
A non-profit that has raised millions for sports & recreation 
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Blair Broadfoot (58) 

Feb. 17 
Hockey dad 
Hockey Regina 

Richard “Richie” Kurz (55) 

April 5 
Moose Jaw and formerly Central Butte 
Former President of Moose Jaw Minor 
(Many, many other volunteer positions to the sport of hockey & beyond) 

Cory Morrison (47) 

May 7 
Hockey Regina dad/coach 

Shane Reiger (48) 

May 17 
Senior player in Indian Head and Wolseley 

Gint Valaitis (72) 

May 29 
Long-time Hockey Regina coach and volunteer 

Rich Schwartz (59) 

Nov. 9 
Hockey dad to NHL player Jaden Schwartz 

Warren then asked all attendees to bow their heads for a moment of silence. 

Meeting Protocol 

Tim Hubic advised the meeting attendees that all votes, with the exception of those on the 
Bylaws that requires 75% in favor, will involve Tim asking if anyone is not in favor.  The Bylaws 
will see an electronic voting process using “Election Buddy”. 

In addition, Tim has general consent of individuals beforehand to serve as movers/seconders of 
all motions. 
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Acceptance of Minutes 

MOTION: Sterling Switzer/Warren Stevenson to accept the Minutes of the June 20, 2020, 
SHA Annual General Meeting as presented. 

CARRIED 

Acknowledgments 

Tim Hubic acknowledged the contributions of four departing members of Board of Directors: 

Sterling Switzer 
Warren Stevenson 
Cortney Lacelle 
Joe Larre 

Tim also announced to the meeting attendees that the Board of Directors have bestowed the 
honour of Life Membership of the SHA upon Mary Anne Veroba of Lampman.  Mary Anne 
served twenty years on the SHA Board of Directors including the last seven as Chairperson. 

Mary Anne Veroba thanked the Board of Directors and membership for the honour and 
expressed how pleased she was to be a member of the SHA. 

Chairpersons Report 

Chairperson Hubic referred the delegates to his written report circulated within the AGM 
document and touched on the following items: 

COVID 

- The last fifteen months have been a real challenge.  Tim thanked the staff for
their efforts during a trying year.  The year truly became a “COVID” response one
in terms of continually trying to forecast and respond to an ever-changing
landscape that no one could control.

Governance Review 

- The Board undertook a significant effort into a review of Governance of the
Association which Tim will comment on prior to the presentation of the Bylaw
Amendment Proposals.
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Equity, Diversity & Inclusion 

- The Board has undertaken a project to discover where the Association stands in
the areas of Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion.  The results will assist the
Association in creating strategies/initiatives to address the topics.

Hockey Canada 

- Tim acknowledged the attendance of Scott Furman from the Hockey Canada
Member Engagement Department.  Tim expressed his appreciation for the efforts
of Hockey Canada staff in the area of Strategic Planning via seeking feedback
from the Members.

Sask Hockey Hall of Fame 

- The governance of the Saskatchewan Hockey Hall of Fame now falls under the
control of the SHA Board of Directors.

MHA Matching Grant Program 

- Tim acknowledged the Matching Grant Program created by the SHA Board of
Directors and being executed by the staff.

Governance Task Team 

- A Task Team was created and consisted of both Board and Non-Board Members
representing large, medium-sized and small communities.  An outside consultant,
Dwight Lawrence, was used to educate the Board of Directors on Policy
Governance for Non-Profit Associations and be served as a guide to keep the
Task Team on track.  The work of the Team resulted in the Notices of Motion to
amend the Bylaws that were distributed.

Officials 

- Tim advised the attendees that the officiating group within the SHA previously
was structured and operated as a “Division” of the SHA.  A governance review of
the officiating structure took place and a new structure was created with an
Officiating Leadership Group being established to lead the Association in the
officiating area with an Officer serving as the Chair of the leadership group.  Tim
thanked Trevor Norum for his leadership and efforts in this area.
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Collective Hope 

- Tim expressed hope that we all can return to playing the game in a safe and fun
environment.  Lessons learned over the past year will not be forgotten.  The
ability to communicate virtually with the membership will be a positive focus in
the future.

Tim thanked all MHAs and Volunteers for their commitment and efforts during the past year. 

MOTION: Trevor Norum/Chad Holinaty to accept the Chairperson’s report as 
presented. 

CARRIED 

Auditors Report 

Chairperson Hubic asked General Manager Kelly McClintock to speak on the audited statement 
and accompanying Executive Summary contained within the AGM document and which had 
been circulated to the membership fifteen days prior to the AGM. 

The Association experienced a surplus of $929,679 on operations this past season.  Kelly 
highlighted the following items from his Executive Summary which contributed to the surplus. 

- Canadian Wage Subsidy Program of close to $300,000.
- Return on SHA Investments of close to $200,000
- No Sask First Programming
- Less Development Programming expenses
- Rebates provided to MHAs, Senior, Junior teams
- Less Insurance paid to Hockey Canada in the Senior, Junior team areas

MOTION: Corntey Lacelle/Joe Larre to accept the 2020/21 audited statement 
as presented. 

CARRIED 

MOTION: Kent Armbruster/Keith Jeonnot to appoint KPMG Chartered Accountants 
as auditors for the SHA for the 2021/22 fiscal year. 

CARRIED 
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Bylaw Amendments 

Chairperson Hubic expanded on his talk of the Governance Task Team of the SHA Board of 
Directors work and the eight Notices of Motion that resulted that the SHA Board of Directors 
have endorsed. 

The proposed Notices of Motion do not impact the operations of the Association but transform 
the Board to one that focuses on strategic planning and policy development/implementation. 

The SHA staff will use virtual calls monthly from September to May to keep in touch with the 
members form a Operational perspective. 

Virtual calls were previously held for the Membership to explain the eight proposed Notices of 
Motion to explain the rationale behind them. 

All Bylaw changes require 75% of those in attendance support. 

MOTION #1 

Bylaw New - Definitions 

Proposed Wording  

The following terms have these meanings in these Bylaws. 

Act 

Saskatchewan Non-Profit Corporations Act, 1995 (Statutes of

Saskatchewan) 

Annual Meeting (AGM) 

The General Meeting of the Members as provided for in Bylaw 2. 

Auditor 

A Public Accountant appointed by the Members by Ordinary Resolution at 
the Annual General Meeting to audit the books, accounts and records of 
the Society for a report to the Members at the next Annual General 
Meeting. 

Association 

A group of volunteers, whether incorporated as a Non-Profit Corporation 
or not, organized to administer the operation of hockey within the Bylaws 
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and Regulations of the SHA.  The group will be administering hockey 
within a center or geographic subdivision. 

Board 

The Board of Directors of the Saskatchewan Hockey Association. 

Bylaws 

The bylaws of the Saskatchewan Hockey Association as altered from 
time to time. 

Categories 

AAA, AA, A, B, C, D in each division. 

Chair of the Board

An individual elected to Chair the Saskatchewan Hockey Association 
Board of Directors. 

Director 

An individual elected to serve on the Board pursuant to these Bylaws. 

Divisions 

Means the classes of hockey being operated within the SHA.  These are 
as follows:  Senior, Junior, U18, U15, U13, U11, U9 and U7. 

Financial Statements 

The financial statements of the Saskatchewan Hockey Association 
prepared according to generally accepted accounting principles 
established by the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accounts from time to 
time, consistently applied. 

Fiscal Year 

Shall have that meaning as defined in Bylaw 5. 

General Meeting 

Any general meeting of the Saskatchewan Hockey Association’s 
Members. 

Hockey Team 

Will have the meaning given to it in the Regulations. 

In Writing 

“In writing” or “written” include printing, typewriting, or any electronic 
means of communication by which words are capable of being visibly 
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reproduced at a distant point of reception, including but not limited to 
email, telecopier (fax), telex or telegraph. 

League 

A combination of three or more teams registered with the Saskatchewan 
Hockey Association or with another Hockey Canada Branch competing 
among themselves based on a regular schedule of games established by 
an elected or appointed group of individuals registered with this 
Association. 

Member 

Shall mean a member as described in Bylaw 1. 

Minor Hockey Association 

Means as an association, registered as a body corporate in the Province 
of Saskatchewan which has adopted Bylaws, and regulations that are 
consistent with the Bylaws and Regulations of Saskatchewan Hockey 
Association and are approved by the Board and operates a program in 
Minor Hockey with one or more Hockey Teams in the following Divisions: 
U7, U9, U11, U13, U15, & U18. 

Notice 

Whenever a period of notice is required under these Bylaws, the day on 
which notice is given shall not be counted as part of the notice period, but 
the day appointed by the notice for the event to which the notice relates 
shall be counted a part of the notice period. 

Officials Development Leadership Team 

An entity representing all hockey officials currently registered with the 
Saskatchewan Hockey Association. 

Officers 

An Officer of the Saskatchewan Hockey Association as defined in Bylaw 
4. 

Ordinary Resolution 

A resolution passed by a majority of the votes cast on that resolution. 

Playing Rules 

Rules that govern the game of hockey in Canada, as set out in the Official 
Playing Rules Book of Hockey Canada and any additional rules approved 
by the Society, as amended from time to time. 
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Regular Membership 

Shall mean a regular member as described in Bylaw 1. 

Regulations 

The regulations of Saskatchewan Hockey Association as made and 
amended from time to time. 

Special Meeting 

A meeting of members as referred to in Bylaw 2. 

MOTION: Edward Watson/Len Thomas 

CARRIED 

MOTION #2 

Bylaw 2.01.01 Membership 

Proposed Wording 

Subject to the condition’s precedent set out herein and compliance with 
these Bylaws and the Rules and Regulations of the association, 
Membership in the Saskatchewan Hockey Association is open to the 
following: 

a) Any local Minor Hockey Association whose primary place of
operations is Saskatchewan provided that the Saskatchewan
Hockey Association will only recognize one Minor Hockey
Association for each city, town or hamlet.

b) All Officiating Development Leadership Team Members who
represent all Hockey Officials currently registered with the
Saskatchewan Hockey Association.

c) The following registered Leagues: Junior A, Junior B, Junior C &
Senior.

d) Life Members are considered the members of the SHA.

MOTION: Edward Watson/Len Thomas 

CARRIED 
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MOTION #3 

Bylaw 2.02.04 Voting 

Proposed Wording 

i. The following shall be entitled to one (1) vote at all Annual Meetings and
Special Meetings:

a) All members of the SHA Board of Directors.  The Chair of the Board
shall refrain from voting unless, in the event of a tie, he/she shall cast
the deciding vote.

b) Officiating Development Leadership Team Members to a maximum of
five (5).

c) Each member (refer to Bylaw 2.01.01) in good standing (refer to
Bylaw 2.01.07) is entitled to cast one (1) vote on any matter on which
Members are entitled to vote.

d) Each member delegate shall present a credential form of their
appointment signed by the President of the Minor Hockey Association
or Junior/Senior represented upon registering for an Annual Meeting
or Special Meeting.  The Member delegate assigned to be the voting
delegate for the Member must be designated on the credential form.

MOTION: Edward Watson/Len Thomas 

CARRIED 

MIOTION #4 

Bylaw 2.04.03 Structure of the Board 

Proposed Wording 

The Board of Directors of the Saskatchewan Hockey Association shall 
consist of 9 members. 

Members of the Board of Directors MUST represent a cross-section of all 
membership to fulfill the roles to represent the membership on the Policy 
Governance Board of the Association. 
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Board approved skills/competency/experience matrix to be created & 
utilized for Board assessment and candidate recruitment. 

Directors of the Board are elected by the membership to three-year 
terms. 

Directors of the Board elect the Board Chair to a three-year term. 

Vice Chairperson and Secretary Board positions are appointed annually 
by the Board of Directors. 

Standing Committees: 
1) Finance/Audit
2) Governance/Nominating Committee

MOTION: Edward Watson/Len Thomas 

DEFEATED 

(Only 59% in favor) 

Due to MOTION #4 being defeated, MOTIONS 5 through 8 were withdrawn. 

Question and Answer Period

One question was received from Warman Minor Hockey that will be forwarded to the 
Staff in writing for a response as it is an operational question. 

Adjournment 

MOTION: Darrell Halarewich/Ryan Hennie to adjourn at 2:15 pm. 

CARRIED 
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“Shaping Character for life…. More than a game” 

Annual General Meeting 
June 21, 2022

Chairperson’s Report: Timothy Hubic 

Welcome to the 110th Annual General Meeting of Hockey Saskatchewan. 

Wow-what a crazy year (actually, two years).  In June of 2021, we had just endured an unwelcomed end of 
our on-ice activities and were welcoming the off-season to prepare for a fresh start to the 2021-2022 
season.  The fall of 2021 was unique & difficult.  Despite best efforts, planning was a challenge due to the 
ever-changing restrictions & requirements placed upon our hockey environment by the government and 
health authorities. 

Our staff, led by Kelly McClintock’s undaunting commitment, worked tirelessly to get games happening last 
fall.  With the Board and staff working together, we were able to navigate through the effects of the 
pandemic and conduct a ‘close to normal’ hockey season for our membership. 

After changing the name of our Association in August, Hockey Saskatchewan was launched along with a new 
website and mobile app to better serve our members.  We did enjoy a cautious start to the season that was 
once again impacted by COVID.    

The Board has gone through a maturing process that resulted in Board members being able to focus on the 
job at hand which was having hockey played in our province.  I believe I speak for the entire Board and the 
senior leadership of Hockey Saskatchewan in saying we are much more interested in administering the game 
of hockey and not public health issues such as vaccinations & COVID testing requirements.  

In reflection, the best part of our team’s effort was the experience and knowledge we all gained in creating a 
solution, then working with our membership to pivot and create a better solution. 

With the government and public health restrictions going to the wayside on February 28th, the Board (and 
staff) were finally able to apply our focus to administering hockey in our province.   

This past season, a number of Board projects were resurfaced and completed. This included significant policy 
updates with Hockey Canada Accredited Schools, Non-Sanctioned Winter Hockey, and many others. The 
culmination of the efforts by many Board members resulted in finally having a revised Policy Manual as well 
as a Procedure Manual that gained Board approval this spring. 

A matching grant program was established and executed with success.  The Association was able to return 

Chairperson's Report

17



close to $150K to our membership with support for capital projects.  Near 80% of our Minor Hockey 

Associations utilized the matching grant to improve their community rinks with the small area boards and 
other improvements to their facilities. 

Hockey Saskatchewan will continue to create opportunities and invest resources (including money) to 
enhance our Minor Hockey Associations for the benefit of the entire membership.  A significant component 
of this investment was initiated near the start of the 2022 year.  The Board created a Strategic Planning Task 
Team guided by a professional consultant.  The effort of this task team with the support of the entire Board 
will not go unnoticed – and resulted in a very useful Strategic Plan that will guide the Association for the 
coming years. 

The pandemic has forced our Association to operate differently and by being adaptable, learning, and 
maintaining a growth-orientated perspective, we are all stronger and better.  We have learned a great many 
things about how our Association performs and what matters, as well as, in some cases what doesn’t matter. 
This learning will not stop. 

Hockey Canada 

As one of the 13 Branches that are members of Hockey Canada, our Branch had a high level of engagement 
in a number of key initiatives.  Many of these areas were focused on specific Hockey Canada Policies and 
related processes. 

Hockey Canada and Hockey Saskatchewan share a focus on the areas of Equity, Diversification and Inclusivity 
– from headlines to social media to the boardroom - a great deal of education and communication focused
on these key areas including Maltreatment.  Another focus point has been the Female game and growing
participation as well as leadership within female hockey.

Relationships are key in developing a greater understanding of our national governing body and the role 
they play within our Branch.  We are extremely fortunate in having long-standing leaders within our 
Association. Kelly’s expertise and experience is respected by all Branches from coast to coast and by Hockey 
Canada itself.   It serves our Association well to have Kelly representing our membership to Hockey Canada 
in most matters around operations as well as governance.  Thank you, Kelly and staff. 

Hockey Saskatchewan Board of Directors 

The Hockey Saskatchewan volunteer Board of Directors collectively dedicated countless hours towards the 
effort of firstly, having our players return to the ice post-pandemic and focusing on the priorities of 
improving our Association for all members.  

Our Board of Directors continued the pursuit to make our Association better through a diligent, transparent 
focus on policy while planning for the future.  The Board is poised to make significant changes in the 
upcoming year with a strong focus on policy governance and the execution of our revised Strategic Plan.  The 

Chairperson's Report
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Board’s effort this past season and the plan ahead will undoubtedly add great value to the membership. 

Equity, Diversity & Inclusion 

Last fall the Hockey Saskatchewan Board of Directors committed to an Equality, Diversity, and Inclusion 
(ED&I) Project.  The successful execution of this project included a survey open to the public and resulted in 
a 450-page comprehensive report from our project partner, Praxis Consulting.  

The project identified systemic problems that transcend organized ice hockey in Saskatchewan.  The 

findings of this effort coupled with the refreshed Strategic Plan position the Association to make significant 

gains in improving hockey for all participants. 

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank all the survey respondents and the volunteers that supported 

this project from the onset.  I would also like to extend a sincere thank you to current Board members 

Edward Watson and Sarah Hodges (and their committee) for leading the work that made this project a 

great success. 

Governance Committee 

A focus this past year has been to review our bylaws and a detailed refinement of Policy & Procedures.  The 
Board, Officers, and committees all spent considerable time & effort on learning, discussing, debating, and 
finally, forming positions to improve the Association and ultimately provide value to the membership. 

Strategic Planning Task Team 

A priority through the past couple of years has been a review of our Strategic Plan.  This past season, a 
concentrated effort resulted in a revised Strategic Plan that will help guide decisions moving forward.  The 
process was intense and leveraged the Hockey Canada process where feasible.  A sincere thank you to all of 
those involved in this process and a very special thank you to our partner Wendy Plandowski for her 
leadership & expertise. 

Officials 

Our hockey officials continue to transition to a new governance model introduced a couple of years ago.  
The new model has yet to mature to its capabilities.  The pandemic was exceptionally hard on the number of 
on-ice officials within our branch.  A concentrated effort to rebound from the negative effect is required and 
many initiatives are being considered.  Making our officials better on and off ice makes our game better. 

The Officials Development Committee has a strong structure of senior leaders guiding new processes and 
supporting the growth of our hockey officials.  

Chairperson's Report

19



Events 

In January of 2021, Radville was finally able to host Hockey Day in Saskatchewan and after a few COVID 
delays & modifications the dedicated group of volunteers produced a great weekend celebration. 

Also returning post-COVID is the Ted Knight Saskatchewan Hockey Hall of Fame Induction Dinner, which is 
being held on Friday, June 24th, at St. Mary’s Cultural Centre in Yorkton. 

Hockey Volunteers 

Off the ice or on, whether you see them or not, there is an extremely dedicated group of parents and 
volunteers who keep minor hockey in motion and ensure the best experience for the kids who play the 
game. Hockey Saskatchewan offers a huge thanks to everyone who spends their time enriching the lives of 
kids through hockey. 

The past couple of seasons, more than ever, we recognize the impact that volunteers have in delivering 
minor hockey and all hockey across the province.  These volunteers found new and creative ways to offer 
some form of hockey in a safe way during COVID-19.  It speaks to the love they have for our game and the 
benefits it provides to our children.  Our Association does not exist without volunteers, and we thank you. 

Hockey Saskatchewan - Awards & Recognition 

On behalf of the Board, the Awards and Recognition Committee selected the recipients of the annual Hockey 
Saskatchewan awards:  
 Minor Hockey Association of the year – Prairie Storm Minor Hockey Association (Balgonie)

 Coach of the Year – Rachelle DeWulf (Lafleche)

 Volunteer of the Year South – Darren Istace (Weyburn)

 Volunteer of the Year North – Christina LaPointe (Saskatoon)

Hockey Saskatchewan Life Members 
Hockey Saskatchewan Life Membership is the highest honour the Association can bestow upon any 
individual.  In our long history as an Association, 36 individuals have attained the status of Life 
Member. Many have passed before us but not all.  I would like to acknowledge the four individuals 
that remain with us:

• Ron Wallace

• Wayne Kartusch

• Al Hubbs

• Mary Anne Veroba

On behalf of the Board of Directors and our entire membership, I thank you for your contributions to our 
game and know that your efforts continue to guide and benefit all participants in the province.  You have 
made our Association better. 

Chairperson's Report
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Hockey Saskatchewan Moving Forward… 

The last year or two has taught us many lessons and these learning will not be forgotten. 

The Board and staff will continue to work to keep hockey relevant and to do whatever is required to 
continue to grow the game.  Every single member of our Association from individuals to all communities 
throughout the province, as well as the staff and Board of Directors – all have a common goal of making the 
Association better. 
Thank you, fellow Board members, for all the work this year. We have excellent representation from across 
the province.  
Thank you also to the staff of Hockey Saskatchewan. Under the experienced leadership of our General 
Manager, our staff continue to do good work, and good work done over and over again becomes great work. 

A sincere thank you to all the volunteers from our membership that assist every day in delivering our game 
and help realize the mission of the Hockey Saskatchewan, “Shaping character for life… More than a game.”  

Hockey Saskatchewan is in an enviable position to impact the changing culture of our game and I am excited 
about the possibilities as we move forward together as one team. 

Thank you for allowing me to serve our membership. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Timothy Hubic 
 Chairperson, Hockey Saskatchewan 

"The secret of change is to focus all of your energy not on fighting the old, but on building the new." 
~ Socrates 

Chairperson's Report
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I want to sincerely extend my appreciation to every volunteer in this province who donates their time to 
ensure MHAs function, a Senior team is able to field a squad, a Junior team is able to operate, kids have 
coaches to guide and lead them, we have enough timekeepers/scorekeepers, people who volunteer to 
drive the Zamboni, put the ice in each fall and to those who spend the time in the rink kitchens ensuring 
we have something to eat or drink. 

I especially want to single out those that served in the capacity of MHA or Team COVID Representatives.  
Your jobs were not easy, you performed your roles incredibly and I commend you for stepping up. 
We as a province were blessed to be able to complete our full season.  Every other province experienced a 
shutdown for hockey to some length.  The support for Provincial Playoff games was tremendous in all 
communities and it was encouraging to see people get to the rinks and support their local teams and 
arenas. Thank you! 

The Ted Knight Saskatchewan Hockey Hall of Fame (SHHOF) has had to postpone the eighth Induction 
Dinner for the past three summers; however, it will be held in Yorkton on July 24, 2022.  All proceeds 
raised from the dinner will be directed towards the Hall of Fame.  The money raised for SHHOF is targeted 
towards both paying off the capital expense to build the Hall of Fame and funding the annual operations of 
the facility. 

The following inductees will be honoured: 

Players  Builders  
Mandi Schwartz    Gerald “Gerry” James 
Nicholas “Nick” Schultz 
Clifford “Cliff” Koroll  
Kelly Buchberger  

Grassroots     Teams 
Allan “Al” Harrison 1992/93 Yorkton Mallers 
Wayne Henley  2013/14 Yorkton Terriers 

Nominations for the SHHOF can be submitted to the Hockey Saskatchewan Office as of September 1st 
annually.  

We encourage everyone to visit the Saskatchewan Hockey Hall of Fame located in the Credit Union iplex in 
Swift Current. 

Even though we had COVID impact the 14th annual Hockey Day in Saskatchewan event in Radville in 
January 2022, the event still raised over $100,000 which will be used toward the construction of new 
dressing rooms and a new Zamboni room at the local arena.  A big thank you to the Host Committee who 
had to endure a cancellation in 2021 and several questions about whether this year’s event could actually 
take place.  They did an awesome job! 

General Manager's Report
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The rotation for the host community for Hockey Day in Saskatchewan for the next four years is as follows: 

• 2023 - Zone 5

• 2024 - Zone 8

• 2025 - Zone 4

• 2026 - Zone 3

• 2027 - Zone 7

• 2028 - Zone 1

Hockey Saskatchewan conducted monthly virtual calls with MHAs/Leagues beginning in September 2021 
through to May 2022.  These sessions were all recorded and then posted on the new Hockey 
Saskatchewan website along with all presenting material.  This process will continue in the future as a 
consistent means of connecting with members. 

With the renaming of the Association to Hockey Saskatchewan, a new website and App were also 
launched.  We encourage everyone to download the Hockey Saskatchewan App free from the App Store. 

The App is a great resource for news, regulations, Provincial Playoff schedules, and scores.  
Hockey Saskatchewan will be hosting an event next year so please watch for announcements and plan on 
attending it:     

2023 Esso Cup 
National Female Under-18 AAA Championship 

April 23-29, 2023 
Prince Albert, Sask. 

I would like to thank all the staff of Hockey Saskatchewan for the countless hours they contribute to the 
development of the game in our province.  Their passion is unrivaled, contagious, and without them, my 
job certainly would be extremely difficult!  In many instances, it is I that receives the accolades for 
achievements that our staff are responsible for so please thank them when you see them.  

Finally, thank you to Hockey Saskatchewan Chair of the Board Tim Hubic and the entire Board of Directors 
for their leadership through what was another difficult year.  

Keep safe this summer! 

Kelly McClintock  
General Manager, Hockey Saskatchewan 
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Actual 2017/18 Actual 2018/19 Actual 2019/20 Actual 2020/21 Actual 2021/22 Actual 2021/22 Actual 2020/21 Actual 2019/20 Actual 2018/19 Actual 2017/18
Senior 123 112 103 82 97 2,291 1,882 2,607 2,804 3,192

Team Officials 317 276 398 397 434

Adult Recreation 27 27 1 0 28 210 0 18 350 350

Team Officials 0 0 0 0 0

Canlan 6,349 0 5,199 7,287 7,712

Female
Senior 2 2 2 1 2 53 25 49 48 50

U18 AAA 8 8 7 7 7 134 134 139 158 154

U18  23 28 32 23 30 408 367 359 421 393

U15 25 20 32 31 37 586 476 400 336 392

U13 26 34 39 38 40 561 559 515 456 365

U11 27 44 46 32 44 630 455 544 523 389

U9 24 36 45 30 40 565 377 535 432 333

U7 11 13 13 14 15 196 159 160 147 108

Totals 146 185 216 176 215 3133 2552 2701 2,521 2,184

Team Officials 973 926 867 812 706

Junior
WHL 5 5 5 5 5

Junior A 12 12 12 12 12 419 300 420 390 395

Junior B 12 12 12 11 11 293 275 308 332 323

Junior C 7 6 5 7 5 115 145 102 144 152

Totals 36 35 34 35 33 827 720 830 866 870

Team Officials 143 139 141 157 149

Minor
U18 AAA 12 12 12 12 12 254 244 247 248 260

U18 173 173 155 142 164 2,685 2570 2,567 2,981 2,959

U15 175 176 176 176 180 2,767 2830 2,918 2,827 2,786

U13 256 255 268 254 266 3,678 3756 3,817 3,904 3,695

U11 325 330 326 307 288 3,842 4082 4,538 4,568 4,499

U9 362 362 356 327 314 3,802 3935 4,411 4,600 4,687

U7 366 364 357 363 335 4,059 4349 4,512 4,596 4,570

Totals 1669 1672 1650 1581 1559 21087 21766 23010 23724 23456

Team Officials 5,825 5,864 6,189 6,334 6,027

Referees 2,317 3,333 3,342 3,243

Summary
Teams 2,001 2,031 2,003 1,874 1,932

Players 33,897 26,920 34,365 37,552 37,764

Team Officials 7,258 7,205 7,595 7,700 7,316

Referees 2,545 2,317 3,333 3,342 3,243

Member Totals 43,700 36,442 45,293 48,594 48,323

Registration Report
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
2021/22 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

The following is a summary of the 2021/22 Audited Financial Statement. 

As we transitioned from a season that was tremendously impacted by COVID to one where, although able 
to get a full season in, was still impacted by COVID and world events. Some items that impact the 
Financial Statement are as follows: 

- Canadian Wage Subsidy and Rent Subsidy Program
- Poor return on Hockey Saskatchewan Investments
- Altering Sask First Programming to include camps in August for the creation of Provincial teams due to no

programming the previous year.
- Altering how Sask First Tournaments are held with no hotel, meal, and transportation costs during the

event as players stayed with their parents.
- Several MHA’s either didn’t register this past season or saw lower registration numbers.
- Several Senior Teams did not register due to the mandatory vaccine requirement of the Provincial

Government for anyone over 18 who didn’t want to participate in an activity with a mask.
- Approximately 800 less Officials registered this past season along with reduced numbers of people willing

to “coach” officials.

Statement of Financial Position page 1

Assets

The Statement of Cash Flows on page 4 details the cash flow from the past fiscal year and shows a
decrease of $676,690 from last season. This is due to moving cash into the Association’s Investment
account.

Operations saw a surplus of $315,026.

Amortization is relatively the same as the previous season.

Accounts Receivable is higher than the previous year. Since April 30th there was still money outstanding
however most of it has been collected as of this date.

Our inventories are higher this year compared to last year.

Accounts Payable are much higher at the end of April however that has been taken care of as the date of
the Annual Meeting.

Audited Financial Statement
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The Investments, Note 3, page 7 represents the amount of money Hockey Saskatchewan has invested 
within a Wood Gundy Investment account and the SHA (now Hockey Saskatchewan) Legacy Fund. The 
Wood Gundy Investments increased by $1,267,224 due to moving surplus from the past two seasons into 
Investments. 

Property, Plant and Equipment, Note 4, page 8, details the assets of Hockey Saskatchewan which is 
essentially the accumulated depreciation on the Hockey Saskatchewan-owned office building, office 
equipment, truck, trailer, etc. The building amount represents the purchase price of the Hockey 
Saskatchewan Building in the amount of $252,000, plus the land allocation of $50,000, (total Hockey 
Saskatchewan Building purchase price of $302,000) and it also includes the leasehold improvements over 
the past twenty-four years such a paving the parking lot; two replacements of the roof over the past 
twenty-four years; new heating/air conditioning units; new offices; etc. Equipment represents items such 
as photocopiers, office furniture and computers. The decreased amount in Property, Plant and Equipment 
is primarily due amortization expenses outweighing any capital purchases/upgrades. 

Liabilities and Net Assets 

Accounts Payable, like the Accounts Receivable, are stated here are as of April 30th. This number is much 
lower as of the current date. 
Deferred Revenue is lower as last season we had received a Hockey Canada Branch Pillar Support Grant 
earlier than normal and this totaled $109,000. 
A further detailed report of the Internally Restricted Net Assets is provided on Page 9 in Schedule 7. 
Please note that Scholarships expensed within the SDM and Hockey Saskatchewan Scholarship Funds are 
those awarded, not paid out, therefore the difference in the amounts listed in Notes 3 and 5. The money 
invested in the Sask Sport area (National Sport Trust Fund) provides a guaranteed return of 5%. Please 
note that money that was previously allocated to the Referee Scholarship and Referee Funds have been 
combined with the Hockey Saskatchewan Scholarship Fund. 
The Unrestricted Net Assets is the Association’s cash and investments upon which there are no 
restrictions. 

Audited Financial Statement
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Statement of Operations Page 2 

The Association experienced a surplus in operations in the amount of $315,026. This statement, along 
with Schedules 1 to 7 (pages 13 – 19) includes the Association’s Budget figures for the 2021/22 fiscal year 
to provide an analysis.   

The following discussion will focus on the comparison of the 2021/22 Audited Figures to the 2021/22 
Budget.  

HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Variance Analysis Summary 

Budget to Audited Statement Operations 

Budget 2021/22    62,517 

Audited Statement 2021/22  315,026 

Variance   252,509 

Variances from Budget to Audited Statement 

Revenue  

Sask Lotteries Trust Fund    0 

Sask Lotteries Trust Fund (Categorical Grants)     0  

National Sports Division Body  (11,910) 

Self Help    (282,166) 

Other     (446,932) 

Expenses 

Sask Lotteries Trust Fund (Categorical Grants)    0 

Administration    60,677 

Capacity/Interaction  129,132 

Participation  321,598 

Excellence 254,063 

HC Insurance     87,975 

HC Membership/Other   138,656 

Audited Financial Statement
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Discussion of Variance Detail 

Revenue 

Sask Lotteries Trust Fund 
Categorical Grants (Schedule 1, Page 13) 
All on budget. 

National Sports Governing Body 

Hockey Saskatchewan receives money annually from a Trust Fund that Hockey Canada set up many years 
ago from money received during the “self-insured” days of the CAHA. Hockey Saskatchewan receives 
their allocated proportion of the interest earned on the Fund. This amounted to $30,500 which is 
approximately $20,000 to $25,000 less than normal due to lower investment returns. 
Hockey Saskatchewan annually receives interest earned on an account created by Hockey Canada 
entitled a “Branch Support Pillar”. Hockey Saskatchewan received approximately $60,000 from this 
account this past season which is approximately $30,000 to $35,000 less than previous years. The 
reduction is the result of a commitment by all provinces to use a portion of this money to upgrade the 
Hockey Canada Registry and the result of less income from investments along with a lower return on 
investments of the money within the Pillar. 

Self-Help (Schedule 2 – page 14) 

Overall registrations for Hockey Saskatchewan were down for the 2021/22 season. 

The reduction in fees is also impacted by the fact that Hockey Canada did not charge their $3 per 
participant rate for the season and they will be implementing that again for the 2022/23 season. 
Therefore, the per participant rate will be $48. 

There were less Senior teams registered primarily since to play without wearing a face covering/mask as 
directed by the Provincial Government they had to be fully vaccinated. Many teams decided to take a 
year off due to that and worried about being shut down again like the previous season. 

Adult Rec saw fewer players participating in the CANLAN programs in Regina and Saskatoon. 
Female Hockey numbers rose which is really encouraging. 

Junior did not meet budgeted expectations primarily since Junior B must now wear a full-face mask and 
therefore pay lower insurance premiums.  

Minor Hockey did not meet budgeted expectations due to the $3 participant fee plus fewer registrations. 
Most communities in the far north did not register due to COVID once again. 

Transfers represent transfer fees for Junior and Senior players from other provinces or overseas in the 

Audited Financial Statement
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case of Senior players returning from Europe. 

Other Revenue (Schedule 3 – page 15) 

Within Marketing, there was difficulty attempting to attract new sponsorships as there was a hope to 
obtain one additional large sponsor and the level of clothing sales was not achieved. However, there was 
an opportunity through Hockey Canada to operate a Province Wide 50/50 through the World Junior 
event and that initiative created a found Revenue of over $33,000 for the Association. This will become 
an annually initiative during the World Junior wherever it is held. 

There was no Sask First (Excellence) programming due to not having the players stay in hotels as teams 
for Sask First Tournament events there were reduced expenses for hotels, meals, and transportation from 
the hotel to the rink and therefore lower fees were collected. 

Officiating Revenue was down simply due to lower registration numbers and not being able to offer the 
level of coaching to specific leagues that resulted in lower revenue from those leagues to help offset 
expenses. 

Investment revenue was poor as we have all experienced in our private lives and this took place from the 
end of January on. 

The Association took advantage of the Canadian Emergency Wage Subsidy and Canadian Emergency Rent 
Subsidy Programs that allowed for employees to continue their employment and eliminate any layoffs or 
terminations. Hockey Saskatchewan leases space in our building to the Saskatchewan High School 
Athletic Association and Regina High Schools Athletic Association. 
Within our budget, an amount of $200,000 was allocated from the previous years surplus for the MHA 
Grant Program conducted last year. There was over $144,000 paid out through the program and 
ultimately the $200,000 was not required. 

Expenses 

Administration 

The Administration Schedule 4 is on page 16. 

Overall, the Administration budget was under by $60,677. 
Fees to complete our Audit, GST and Income Tax Return decreased by $3,000. 
We were able to be part of a Hockey Canada initiative through the HCR in working with a new credit card 
company which lowered amount of fees paid by over 50%. There is strength in numbers in obtaining a 
deal nationally. 

We had increased expenses in Legal around some situations that arose last summer. 

Audited Financial Statement
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We had lower than budgeted expenses for Divisional Expenses which is travel to Provincials, League 
Meetings, Regional and National Competitions, etc. 

With a move to conducting almost all clinics virtually there was substantial savings in postage and express 
for sending materials to clinic instructors throughout the province. 

Capacity/Interaction 

The Capacity/Interaction Section is Schedule 5, Page 17. 

Overall, in this area we experienced savings of $129,132. 

The savings were experience in primarily two areas. 

Marketing was reduced strictly due to lower sales of clothing and the cost of the goods sold would be 
reflected here. In addition, the expenses with Hockey Day in Saskatchewan were lower with a slightly 
condensed version with no Banquet or SJHL game due to COVID. 

There were significant savings in Meetings as the Hockey Saskatchewan Board of Directors and Officiating 
meetings was primarily held virtually and there were savings with all virtual Hockey Canada Meetings as 
well. 

The Volunteer and Staff Development account included the expenses to complete the ED&I Project that 
was completed over the past season. 

Participation  

The Participation Section is Schedule 6, Page 17. 

Overall, in this are we experienced savings of $321,598. 

Within Coaching Development, the move from in-class coaching clinics to virtual ones reduced expenses 
in conducting them. 

With concerns around COVID our Coach Mentorship initiative at the U7 level was not as successful and 
training sessions for mentors were not held. 

Within Officiating Development, the move to virtual clinics reduced expenses however there was a 
reduction in the amount of people “coaching” officials at all levels due to shortage on “coaches” and 
shortage of officials. 

We did not reach projected levels of IP Jamborees due to COVID concerns/close contact guidelines which 
made groups hesitant to host events. 
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We had fewer female registrations for Female Festivals/Jamborees however the Futures program was 
sold out. 

Excellence  

The Excellence Section is Schedule 7, Page 19. 

Overall, in this are we experienced savings of $254,063. 

The number one reason for the savings is that with COVID a decision was made in the hosting of the Sask 
First Tournaments that all players would stay with their parents. Normally all players are housed within 
their team in a hotel four to a room; fed at the hotel; and bused to and from the hotel. All these expenses 
no longer we absorbed and the corresponding reduction in the fees collected also occurred. 

Hockey Canada Insurance/Membership/Other 

The amount of insurance paid to Hockey Canada was reduced, primarily in the Minor, Junior, and Senior 
categories due to lower registration. 

Hockey Canada also reduced it per participant membership fee of $3.00 per participant to 0 which 
reduced the amount paid by Hockey Saskatchewan by over $50,000. 

There was also no need to use surplus funds to pay for the MHA Grant Program. 

Audited Financial Statement
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Members of Hockey Saskatchewan 

Qualified Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Hockey Saskatchewan (the Entity) which comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at April 30, 2022

• the statement of operations for the year then ended

• the statement of changes in net assets for the year then ended

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended

• and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”).

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified 
Opinion” section of our auditors’ report, the accompanying financial statements, present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of the Entity as at April 30, 2022, and its results of 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting 
standards for not-for-profit organizations. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

In common with many not-for-profit organizations, the Entity derives revenue from registrations, 
clinics and donations, the completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit 
verification. Accordingly, verification of these revenues was limited to the amounts recorded in 
the records of the Entity.  

Therefore, we were not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to: 

• the current assets reported in the statements of financial position as at April 30, 2021 and
April 30, 2022

• the registrations, clinic, and donation revenues and excess of revenues over expenses
reported in the statements of operations for the years ended April 30, 2021 and April 30,
2022

• the unrestricted net assets, at the beginning and end of the year, reported in the statements
of changes in net assets for the years ended April 30, 2021 and April 30, 2022

• the excess of revenues over expenses reported in the statements of cash flows for the years
ended April 30, 2021 and April 30, 2022.
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Our opinion on the financial statements for the year ended April 30, 2021 was qualified 
accordingly because of the possible effects of this limitation in scope.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditors’ report. 

We are independent of the Entity in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our qualified opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Entity or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Entity’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ 
report that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we 
exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  
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We also: 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Entity’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Entity to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Regina, Canada 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Statement of Financial Position 

April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022 2021 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash  $ 864,187 $ 1,540,877 
Accounts receivable 126,605 178,393 
Inventories 176,518 297,289 
Prepaid expenses 764 38,088 

1,168,074 2,054,647 

Investments (note 3) 3,684,884 2,417,660 
Property, plant and equipment (note 4) 219,191 252,856

$ 5,072,149  $ 4,725,163 

Liabilities and Net Assets 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5)  $ 285,899 $ 81,071 
Due to Sask Lotteries Trust Fund (note 6) - 43,871
Deferred revenue 19,936 148,933

305,835 273,875 

Net assets: 
Invested in property, plant and equipment 219,191 252,856 
Internally restricted (note 7) 954,405 943,989 
Unrestricted 3,592,718 3,254,443 

4,766,314 4,451,288 

Contingencies (note 8) 

$ 5,072,149 $ 4,725,163  

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

On behalf of the Board: 

Director 

Director 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Statement of Operations  

Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

Total 
2022 

Total 
2022 Budget 

(unaudited) 

Total 
2021 

Revenue: 
Sask Lotteries Trust Fund for Sport, 
Culture & Recreation  $ 435,300 $     435,300 $ 435,300 

Sask Lotteries Trust Fund for Sport, 
Culture & Recreation - Categorical 
Grants (Schedule 1) 397,900 397,000 311,829

National Sports Division Body 150,090 162,000 93,641
Self-Help (Schedule 2) 2,049,271 2,331,437 1,845,346
Other (Schedule 3) 1,216,268 1,663,200 982,232

4,248,829 4,988,937 3,668,348

Expenses: 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

Sask Lotteries Trust Fund for Sport, 
Culture & Recreation - Categorical 
Grants (Schedule 1) 397,900 397,000 311,829

Administration (Schedule 4) 854,054 914,731 847,524
Capacity and Interaction (Schedule 5) 191,843 311,975 90,018
Participation (Schedule 6) 794,619 1,116,217 518,539
Excellence (Schedule 7) 662,434 916,497 163,644
Hockey Canada Insurance 849,025 937,000 764,474 
Hockey Canada Membership/Other 194,344 333,000 54,394 

3,944,219 4,926,420 2,750,422

Excess of revenue over expenses before 
the undernoted 304,610 62,517 917,926

Internally restricted excess of revenue 
over expenses (note 7) 10,416 - 11,753

Excess of revenue over expenses $ 315,026 $    62,517 $ 929,679 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

April 30, 2022 

Invested in 
property, plant 
and equipment 

Internal 
restrictions 

 (note 7) Unrestricted 
2022 
Total 

Balance, beginning of year $ 252,856 $ 943,989 $ 3,254,443 $   4,451,288 

(Deficiency) excess of revenue 
over expenses (49,623) 10,416 354,233 315,026 

Net change in investment in 
property, plant and equipment 15,958 - (15,958) -

Balance, end of year $ 219,191 $ 954,405 $ 3,592,718 $ 4,766,314 

April 30, 2021 

Invested in 
property, plant 
and equipment 

Internal 
restrictions 

 (note 7) Unrestricted 
2021 
Total 

Balance, beginning of year $ 274,454 $ 932,236 $ 2,314,919 $   3,521,609 

(Deficiency) excess of revenue 
over expenses (47,312) 11,753 965,238 929,679 

Net change in investment in 
property, plant and equipment 25,714 - (25,714) -

Balance, end of year $ 252,856 $ 943,989 $ 3,254,443 $ 4,451,288 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Statement of Cash Flows 

Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022 2021 

Cash provided by (used in): 

Operations: 
 Excess of revenue over expenses $ 315,026  $ 929,679 
 Item not involving cash: 

  Amortization 49,623 47,312 
 Change in non-cash operating working capital: 

Accounts receivable 51,788 (25,028) 
Inventories       120,771 (66,599) 
Prepaid expenses 37,324 6,612 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 204,828 (10,574) 
Due to Sask Lotteries Trust Fund (43,871) 43,871 
Deferred revenue (128,997) 85,590 

606,492 1,010,863 

Investing:  
 Purchases of property, plant and equipment (15,958)  (25,714) 
 Increase in investments (1,267,224) (501,543) 

(1,283,182) (527,257)

(Decrease) increase in cash (676,690) 483,606 

Cash, beginning of year   1,540,877 1,057,271 

Cash, end of year $ 864,187 $ 1,540,877 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended April 30, 2022 

1. Nature of operations:

Hockey Saskatchewan, ("the Entity") is a provincial sports governing body that administers the
operations of hockey in Saskatchewan.  Its primary objectives are to foster and promote hockey
and to promote, supervise and administer all competitions for hockey in Saskatchewan. During
the year, the Entity changed its name from Saskatchewan Hockey Association to Hockey
Saskatchewan.

2. Significant accounting policies:

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for
not-for-profit organizations (“NPO”).  The Entity's significant accounting policies are as follows:

(a) Revenue recognition:

The Entity follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted
contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are
incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is
reasonable assured.

Registration revenue is recognized over the membership period.

(b) Government assistance:

Government assistance refers to governmental actions that provide specific funding to an
individual enterprise. Government assistance toward current expenses or revenues are
included in the determination of excess of revenue over expenses for the period and is
disclosed in note 10.
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended April 30, 2022 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(c) Financial assets and liabilities:

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition.  Equity instruments
that are quoted in an active market are subsequently measured at fair value. All other
financial instruments are subsequently recorded at cost or amortized cost, unless
management has elected to carry the investments at fair value. Management has elected
to carry investments at the fair value.

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of financial instruments measured
subsequently at fair value are expensed as incurred.  All other financial instruments are
adjusted by transaction costs incurred on acquisition and financing costs, which are
amortized using the straight-line method.

Financial assets are assessed for impairment on an annual basis at the end of the fiscal
year if there are indicators of impairment.  If there is an indicator of impairment, the Entity
determines if there is a significant adverse change in the expected amount or  timing of
future cash flows from the financial asset.  If there is a significant adverse change in the
expected cash flows, the carrying value of the financial asset is reduced to the highest of
the present value of the expected cash flows, the amount that could be realized from
selling the financial asset or the amount the Entity expects to realize by exercising its right
to any collateral.  If events and circumstances reverse in a future period, an impairment
loss will be reversed to the extent of the improvement, not exceeding the initial impairment
charge.

(d) Inventory:

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

(e) Property, plant and equipment:

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated amortization.
Amortization is provided using the following methods and rates:

Asset Basis Rate

Building Straight line 5%
Equipment Declining balance 10%
Vehicles Straight line 20%
Software Straight line 100%
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended April 30, 2022 

2. Significant accounting policies (continued):

(f) Income taxes:

Hockey Saskatchewan is continued under The Non-Profit Corporations Act of
Saskatchewan. Under present legislation, no income taxes are payable on reported
income of such organizations.

(g) Use of estimates:

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with NPO requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amount of revenue and expenses during the reporting period.
Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the recoverability of
accounts receivable and the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment.
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

3. Investments:

2022 2021

Cash and cash equivalents $ 54,627 $ 11,801 
Fixed income 7,021 52,788 
Mutual funds - 138,074
Equities 2,633,034 1,249,211
Sask Sport Inc. - Legacy Fund, interest at 5.00% per 

annum 263,317 250,033 
Sask Sport Inc. - Saskatchewan Development Model 

Scholarship Fund, interest at 5.00% per annum 255,817 255,963 
Sask Sport Inc. SHA Scholarship Fund, interest at 

5.00% per annum 471,068 459,790 

$ 3,684,884  $ 2,417,660  

Amounts included in fixed income relate to a corporate bond with the yield of 3.30%  maturing in 
June of 2022 (2021 – corporate bonds from 1.70% - 3.43% and maturities from three months to 
five years).  
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended April 30, 2022 

4. Property, plant and equipment:

2022 2021

Cost 
Accumulated 
amortization 

Net book 
value 

Net book 
Value 

Land $ 50,000  $ - $ 50,000   $ 50,000  
Building 673,586  571,009 102,577 125,978 
Equipment 305,197 254,356 50,841 50,233 
Vehicles 54,363 38,590 15,773 26,645

$ 1,083,146  $ 863,955 $  219,191  $ 252,856 

5. Accounts payable and accrued labilities:

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are government remittances payable of
$5,827 (2021 - $9,135), which includes amounts payable for GST and PST.

6. Due to Sask Lotteries Trust Fund:

The Entity receives annual funding from Sask Lotteries Trust Fund for Sport, Culture and
Recreation with the understanding that the funds are to be used for eligible purposes adhering
to the policies and guidelines. In the event funds are not used in accordance with the policies
and guidelines, they must be returned to Sask Lotteries Trust Fund for Sport, Culture and
Recreation. At April 30, 2022, the Entity had $nil payable to the Sask Lotteries Trust Fund (2021
- $43,871).
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended April 30, 2022 

7. Internally restricted net assets:

Legacy  

Sask 
Development 

Model 
Scholarship 

Hockey 
Sask 

Scholarship 
Referee 

Scholarship Referee Building 
2022 
Total 

2021 
Total 

Balance, beginning of 
year $ 194,703 $ 216,963 $ 415,167 $ 43,372 $ 56,527 $ 17,257 $ 943,989 $ 932,236 

Interest and donation 
revenue 13,284 12,854 23,278 - - - 49,416 47,753 

Scholarships - (24,000)    (15,000) - - -  (39,000) (36,000) 
Transfers 56,527 - 43,372 (43,372) (56,527)   -     -    - 

69,811 (11,146) 51,650 (43,372) (56,527) - 10,416 11,753 

$ 264,514 $ 205,817 $ 466,817 $ - $ - $ 17,257 $ 954,405 $ 943,989 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended April 30, 2022 

7. Internally restricted net assets (continued):

The Entity's Board of Directors internally restricted the following amounts from unrestricted net
assets.  The amounts are not available for other purposes without the approval of the Board of
Directors.

Legacy Fund: 

The Entity has established a Legacy Fund which is being administered by Sask Sport Inc. 
Donations can be made to Sask Sport Inc. for which the donor receives a charitable receipt. 
The intention of the Legacy Fund is to generate interest to support grass roots development 
programs. During the year, the Referee Fund was transferred into the Legacy Fund. 

Saskatchewan Development Model Scholarship Fund: 

The Entity has established a Saskatchewan Development Model Scholarship Fund. The 
monies will be used to fund up to twenty-four $1,000 scholarships to eligible members on an 
annual basis. 

Hockey Saskatchewan Scholarship Fund: 

The purpose of the fund is to pay scholarships to registered eligible members on an annual 
basis. The balance may only be reduced by the approval of at least two-thirds of the 
membership of the Entity at an annual general meeting. During the year, the Referee 
Scholarship Fund was transferred into the Hockey Saskatchewan Scholarship Fund. 

Referee Scholarship Fund: 

The amount provides a source of funding for scholarships for eligible referees. 

Referee Fund: 

This amount provides a source of funding for future Referee programming. 

Building Fund: 

This amount provides a source of funding for building renovations. 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended April 30, 2022 

8. Contingencies:

The Entity is contingently liable with respect to a portion of the claims against the Hockey
Canada National Insurance Equity Fund in excess of premiums paid to the Fund by the member
Entities.  Should any loss to the Entity result from the resolution of the claims, it will be
accounted for in the year of settlement.

9. Risk management:

Exposure to market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk arise in the normal course of the Entity's
business.

(a) Market risk:

Market risk is the risk of loss that results from fluctuations in equity prices, interest, and
exchange rates.  The Entity is exposed to market risk from its investing activities.  The level
of risk to which the Entity is exposed varies depending on market conditions and the
composition of the asset-mix.

(i) Price risk:

The Entity manages price risk primarily through diversifying the investments across
industry sectors and through investment strategies.  As at April 30, 2022 the Entity had
an unrealized loss of $20,262 (2021 – unrealized gain of $36,931) on its investments.

(ii) Currency risk:

Currency risk arises from the Entity’s holdings of foreign currency-denominated
investments.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Entity will be unable to fulfill its obligations on a timely basis
or at a reasonable cost. The Entity manages its liquidity risk by monitoring its operating
requirements. The Entity prepares budget and cash forecasts to ensure it has sufficient
funds to fulfill its obligations.

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations
resulting in a financial loss. The Entity is exposed to credit risk with respect to the accounts
receivable and investments. The maximum exposure is the carrying amount of these
financial assets on the statement of financial position. The Entity assesses, on a continuous
basis, accounts receivable and expenses any amounts that are not collectible.
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Notes to Financial Statements (continued) 

Year ended April 30, 2022 

10. Government assistance:

Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy

The Entity has applied for and received financial assistance during the year from the Canadian
government under the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (CEWS) amounting to $88,236 (2021
- $297,122). The CEWS is a government assistance and has been recognized as other revenue
in the statement of operations and disclosed in Schedule 3.

Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy 

The Entity has applied for and received financial assistance during the year from the Canadian 
government under the Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy (CERS) amounting to $3,228 (2021 - 
$1,916). The CERS is a government assistance and has been recognized as other revenue in 
the statement of operations and disclosed in Schedule 3. 

Federal Emergency Support for Sport Organizations 

The Entity has applied for and received financial assistance during the year from the Federal 
Government under the Emergency Support Program for Sport Organizations amounting to 
$11,190 (2021 - $337,280). The support is a government assistance and has been recognized 
as a reduction of expenses incurred during the year to support local hockey organizations in the 
same amount. 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Schedule 1 - Sask Lotteries Trust Fund for Sport, Culture & Recreation - Categorical Grants 

Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022
2022 Budget 

(unaudited) 2021 

Revenue: 
Membership Assistance Program $ 239,000  $ 239,000 $  194,829 
University Athletic Assistance Program 69,000 69,000 69,000 
Student Athlete Awards Program 46,000 46,000 45,000 
Future Best 11,400 3,000 3,000 
Hosting 7,500 15,000 - 
Aboriginal Sport Enhancement Program 25,000 25,000 - 

397,900 397,000 311,829 

Expenses:
Membership Assistance Program 239,000 239,000  194,829 
University Athletic Assistance Program 69,000 69,000 69,000 
Student Athlete Awards Program 46,000 46,000  45,000 
 Future Best 11,400 3,000  3,000 
Hosting 7,500 15,000 - 

    Aboriginal Sport Enhancement Program 25,000 25,000  - 
397,900 397,000 311,829 

$ - $ - $  - 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Schedule 2 - Self-Help Revenue 

Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022
2022 Budget 

(unaudited) 2021 

Registration Fees and Insurance: 
Senior $ 188,330  $  231,150  $ 50,265  
Adult Rec 20,920 30,850 5,907 
Female 203,270 193,150 167,426 
Junior 95,366 110,650 66,828 
Minor 1,352,465 1,565,125 1,340,935 
Officiating 155,820 158,012 196,985 

2,016,171 2,288,937 1,828,346 

Tournament Sanctions 16,800 20,000 - 
Transfers 16,300 22,500 17,000 

$ 2,049,271  $ 2,331,437   $ 1,845,346  

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Schedule 3 – Other Revenue 

Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022
2022 Budget 

(unaudited) 2021 

AGM/Protests/Concessions/Appeals $  8,693 $  9,500 $  6,002 
Marketing 200,353 240,750 79,573 
Excellence Fees 376,750 477,000 - 
Coaching Clinics 209,146 200,600 144,437 
Coach Mentorship 45,000 55,000  46,606 
Western Hockey League Release Fees 21,000 23,000  29,000 
Camps 112,770 120,000 41,583 
Minor Hockey Associations Evaluations 33,225 33,270 34,515 
Officiating 88,009 113,080 59,384 
Interest Income and Changes in Fair Value 
of Investments (31,123) 100,000 194,926 
Lease 14,893 16,000 16,871 
Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy 88,236 50,000 297,122 
Canada Emergency Rent Subsidy 3,228 - 1,916
Sundry 46,088 225,000  30,297

$  1,216,268 $  1,663,200 $  982,232 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Schedule 4 - Administration Expenses 

Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022
2022 Budget 

(unaudited) 2021 

Amortization $  49,623 $  53,400  $  47,312 
Audit and Accounting  26,656  29,500  36,341 
Bank and Credit Card Charges 32,163 67,531 41,422 
Computer Programming and Hosting 30,700 37,500 42,010 
Fidelity Bond and Insurance 9,313 11,000 10,121 
Legal 22,424 5,000  9,433 
Divisional Expenses 10,585 21,000 454 
Occupancy Costs 75,579 74,000 72,903 
Office Allowance 26,850 36,800 34,250 
Office Supplies and Printing 10,260 10,000 3,941 
Postage and Express 8,800 25,000 8,267 
Salaries and Benefits 533,529 529,000 525,634 
Telephone 17,572 15,000  15,436 

$  854,054 $  914,731  $  847,524 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Schedule 5 - Capacity and Interaction Expenses 

Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022
2022 Budget 

(unaudited) 2021 

Marketing $ 75,478 $  123,850  $ 18,418 
Meetings 22,094 103,125 13,294 
Handbooks and Manuals 449 3,000 2,878 
Website 47,993 45,000 46,226 
Volunteer and Staff Development 40,568 30,000 4,138 
Volunteer and Staff Recognition 4,261 6,000 5,064 
Teams Travel Subsidies 1,000 1,000 - 

$  191,843 $ 311,975   $  90,018 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 

53



HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Schedule 6 - Participation Expenses 

Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022
2022 Budget 

(unaudited) 2021 

Development Salaries and Benefits $ 151,949 $ 154,000  $ 153,652 
Coaching Development 108,717 150,172 80,562 
Coach Mentorship 49,295 89,200 46,606 
Officials Development 221,008 400,965 98,973 
Initiation Program and Jamborees 90,613 124,000 48,822 
Competitions - Provincials 21,369 15,000 - 
Target Group Initiatives 4,559 4,000 - 
Hockey Safety Trainers 6,846 15,000 13,293 
Goaltending and Camps 14,609 18,000 12,698 
Female Programs 92,184 110,100 28,690 
Minor Hockey Associations Evaluations 29,482 28,280 30,918 
Sledge Hockey 3,988 7,500 4,325 

$ 794,619 $ 1,116,217   $ 518,539 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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HOCKEY SASKATCHEWAN 
Schedule 7 - Excellence Expenses 

Year ended April 30, 2022, with comparative information for 2021 

2022
2022 Budget 

(unaudited) 2021 

Development Salaries and Benefits $ 151,872 $  154,000   $ 153,652 
Coaching Development  124,833 143,035 2,842 
Officiating Development 107,604 122,580 115 
Trainers Development 28,527 34,977 308 
Talent Identification 156,948 369,855 - 
Training 43,466 39,450 1,727 
Competition 45,434 47,100 - 
Athlete Assistance 3,750 5,000 5,000 
Sport Science - 500 - 

$ 662,434 $ 916,497   $ 163,644 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

Amendment to: 

Bylaw Name Voting Page 

X Bylaw Number 2.03.04 a) Page N/A 

Regulation Number Page 

Submitted by: Hockey Saskatchewan Board of Directors 

Authorized by: 

Current Wording: 

a) All members of the Hockey Saskatchewan Board of Directors. The Chair of the Board shall refrain

from voting unless, in the event of a tie, he/she shall cast the deciding vote.

Proposed Wording: 

a) The Hockey Saskatchewan Board of Directors will determine their block voting prior to any meeting

of the membership that includes a non-election vote. The Chair of the Board shall cast the Board votes 

in one block vote at the meeting of the membership. 

Block Vote will be the total number of eligible votes (1 vote per active member of the Board of 

Directors) either in favour or against the motion being considered. 

Rationale for Change:

The Hockey Saskatchewan Board of Directors will consider and determine their votes at a Board 

meeting PRIOR to any meeting of the membership that includes any notice of motion (including the 

AGM). 

This has been the usual practice of the Board for several years.  This proposed change would remove 

any ambiguity in the process and the casting of Board votes would be consistent and promote integrity 

with the use of one Board voice. 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

Amendment to: 

Bylaw Name Structure of the Board Page 

Bylaw Number 2.05.03 Page 

Regulation Number Page 

Submitted by: Hockey Saskatchewan Board of Directors 

Authorized by: 

Current Wording: 

The Board of Directors of Hockey Saskatchewan shall consist of the following: 

 Seven (7)  Officers 

 Sixteen (16)    Zone Directors 

Proposed Wording: 

The Hockey Saskatchewan Board of Directors shall consist of 9 members. 

Members of the Board of Directors MUST represent a cross-section of all membership to fulfill the roles 

to represent the membership on the Policy Governance Board of the Association.  

Directors of the Board are elected by the membership to three-year terms.  

Directors of the Board elect the Board Chair to a three-year term.  

Vice Chairperson & Secretary Board positions are appointed annually by the Board of Directors. 

Minimum Standing Committees of the Board:  

1) Finance/Audit

2) Governance/Nominating Committee

Rationale for Change:

The Board of Directors must move to function as a high-performing Policy Governing Board. 

The existing twenty-three-member Board structure makes it extremely inefficient & challenged 

to function in that capacity. 

All Branches within Hockey Canada have undergone Governance reviews over the past five and 

eight years and have moved to smaller policy Boards. 
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Branch  Board Size Players 

BC Hockey  9 58,000 

Hockey Alberta  8 79,000 

Hockey Saskatchewan   23 35,000 

Hockey Manitoba  9 29,000 

Hockey North  11 4,000 

Hockey Northwestern Ontario   11 5,000 

Ontario Hockey Federation   8 214,000 

Hockey Eastern Ontario  7 27,000 

Hockey Quebec   7 87,000 

Hockey New Brunswick   15 16,000 

Hockey PEI  9 6,000 

Hockey Nova Scotia  11 17,000 

Hockey Newfoundland & Labrador 9 12,000 

The size of the Hockey Saskatchewan Board has not really changed for over twenty-five years. 

In previous years the Board members were extremely important in the dissemination of  

information and serving as a contact for members.  With technology changes, the internet, and  

the increase in the presence staff within Hockey Saskatchewan, the ability to communicate with 

the membership is now instantaneous. 

• Current Board of 14 will utilize an approved Special Election Process in June 2022 as a

One-time transition to elect 9 from the 14 existing Board Members

• Membership will elect three new Board members to three-year terms at the 2023 AGM

• Candidate list for the 2023 election will be constructed based on a tier model for

representation from throughout the membership

3 Board members from the Tier I - Large associations (Registered players > 500)

3 Board members from the Tier II - Medium associations (Registered players 100 - 500)

3 Board members from the Tier III – Small associations (Registered players <100)

Tiered Model: 

Listing of all MHAs by player registration. Individual age categories and total registrations. 

o Tier 1

 All MHAs with Registration over 500

 Adult Rec which is Canlan Registration in Regina and Saskatoon.

o Tier 2

 All MHAs with Registration over 100 and less than 500

 Junior and Sledge Hockey.

o Tier 3

 All MHAs with Registration with less than 100

 Senior Hockey.
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We would be considering three Board Members from each Tier. The Tiers could potentially change 

slightly from year to year however, in terms of providing representation to the entire membership by 

registrations – this model achieves that.  

Ensuring all demographics of our membership are represented on the new Board of 9 – will be ensured 

by utilizing the standing Governance/Nominating committee with the tiered-model displayed above. 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

Amendment to: 

Bylaw Name Page 

Bylaw Number Page 

Regulation Number Page 

Submitted by: Hockey Saskatchewan Board of Directors – INFORMATIONAL ONLY 

Authorized by: 

Current Wording: 

Various housekeeping changes will be required to Bylaw 5 – Board of Directors to amend wording to 

reflect the changes to Officers & Zone Directors. 

Changes will be made during the 2022-23 season and ratified at the next AGM (June 2023) 

Proposed Wording: 

Rationale for Change:
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2021-22 2020-21 
Provincials 

U13 73 0 
U15 59 0 
U18 56 0 
Senior 42 0 
Female (U13 only) 16 0 

Carded Teams 

U9 20 0 
U11 30 0 

Alternate Season Teams 0 0 

Minor Hockey Associations 187 188 

Leagues 
Minor 15 14 
Female 2 2 
Senior 12 13 
Junior 3 3 

Tournament Sanctions  618 0 

Exhibition Game Sanctions 1932 226 

Travel Permits  
Canada 231 0 
USA  0 0 

Injury Reports  167 32 

Concessions reviewed by Registration Committee 107 

Sask First Registrations 
Male U15 277 0 
Male U18 270 0 
Female U16  221 0 
Female U18  111 0 

Miscellaneous
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Officiating Clinic Registrations 
Clinics Hosted (Virtual)  33 44 
On-Ice Clinics Hosted  114 155 
Total Officials Registered 2434 2317 

Grassroots Programs 
Cross-Ice Jamborees 40 12 

Cross-Ice Jamboree Registrations 1816 320 
Female Festivals 5 4 

Female Festivals Registrations 214 190 
Female Futures Registrations  128 Cancelled 

Coaching Clinics 
Coach 1 Intro Clinics 42 47 

Coach 1 Intro Registrations 545 550 
Coach 2 Level Clinics  38 44 

Coach 2 Level Registrations 516 485 
Development 1 Clinics  3 5 

Development 1 Registrations 45 103 
High Performance 1 Clinics 1 0 

High Performance 1 Registrations 36 0 
Checking Clinic  20 14 

Checking Clinic Registrations 198 159 
Goalie Coach Clinic  23 28 

Goalie Coach Clinic Registrations 237 312 
HU-Online Coach Clinic Registrations  1067 1017 
HU-Online Safety Clinic Registrations  563 747 
HU-Online Checking Clinic Registrations 398 682 
Respect in Sport Online 1331 1302 
ICOP Clinics  4 0 

Female Coach Clinics  9 3 
Coach Evaluations Development 1 – 51/35 Development 1 – 79/21 

High Perf. 1 – 6/23 High Perf. 1 – 11/32 

Coaching Fines 
Total  $42800 $22950 

Coach 1  $7500 N/A 
Coach 2  $6500 N/A 
Development 1  $1100 N/A 
Checking (in person) $2800 N/A 
Checking (online) $1450 $1100 
Goaltending  $3800 N/A 

Miscellaneous
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Safety (online)  $2100 $2100 
Respect in Sport (online) $6150 $4600 

HU-Planning a Safe Return $11200 $14900 
Female Coach  $200 

Mentorship 
42 43 
154 156 
77 63 
324 360 
361 320 

# of Mentors  
# of MHA’s with IP teams 
# of MHA visited by Mentors 
# of IP teams  
# of Mentor visits 
# of IP teams not visited  128 199 

Miscellaneous
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MALE Total Date # of Games AAA AA A B C Carded
U7 530

Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec. 126 26 50 50

Jan. 132 32 54 46

Feb. 191 48 64 79

Mar. 81 19 26 36

U9 671
Sept.
Oct.
Nov. 192 67 72 53

Dec. 231 88 75 68

Jan. 72 32 28 12

Feb. 77 28 39 10

Mar. 99 26 54 19

U11 167
Sept.
Oct. 1 1

Nov. 40 24 9 7

Dec. 46 16 15 9 6

Jan. 18 5 7 6

Feb. 30 4 12 13 1

Mar. 32 7 12 11 2

U13 171
Sept. 9 9

Oct. 69 16 33 15 5

Nov. 23 1 16 4 2

Dec. 15 1 7 6 1

Jan. 18 6 9 3

Feb. 16 2 5 7 2

Mar. 21 8 6 7

U15 119
Sept. 29 28 1

Oct. 40 23 13 4

Nov. 12 4 4 4

Dec. 12 6 5 1

Jan. 12 2 7 3

Feb. 6 1 5

Mar. 8 2 5 1

U18 76
Sept. 31 2 29

Oct. 24 3 15 5 1

Nov. 7 1 4 2

Dec. 7 2 4 1

Jan. 2 1 1

Feb.
Mar. 5 5

Minor Exhibition Game Sanctions By Age Division - 2021-22

Miscellaneous
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FEMALE Total Date # of Games AAA AA A B C Carded
U7 9

Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec. 1 1

Jan. 1 1

Feb. 3 3

Mar. 4 4

U9 78
Sept.
Oct.
Nov. 8 3 1 4

Dec. 13 3 5 5

Jan. 16 6 3 7

Feb. 26 3 10 13

Mar. 15 3 5 7

U11 53
Sept.
Oct.
Nov. 10 5 5

Dec. 8 1 4 3

Jan. 6 1 1 2 2

Feb. 12 3 4 5

Mar. 13 4 4 9

U13 33
Sept.
Oct. 9 1 6 2

Nov. 3 1 2

Dec. 5 4 1

Jan. 6 1 4 1

Feb. 5 4 1

Mar. 5 5

U15 16
Sept. 2 2

Oct. 2 2

Nov. 1 1

Dec. 1 1

Jan. 4 1 3

Feb. 4 4

Mar. 2 2

U18 9
Sept. 4 4

Oct. 4 2 1 1

Nov.
Dec.
Jan.
Feb.
Mar. 1 1

Total Games 1932

Note:  

2356 Total Minor Games Sanctioned

424 Cancelled Sanctions

1932 Minor Game Sanctions Played

Miscellaneous
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MALE Total Date # of Games AAA AA A B C Carded
U7 120

Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec. 17 7 3 7

Jan. 47 10 19 18

Feb. 34 8 13 13

Mar. 22 7 9 6

U9 139
Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec. 43 10 17 13 3

Jan. 44 11 18 13 2

Feb. 29 6 13 8 2

Mar. 23 5 12 4 2

U11 133
Sept.
Oct.
Nov. 27 1 5 16 5

Dec. 34 1 8 15 10

Jan. 28 6 11 9 2

Feb. 30 1 6 12 8 3

Mar. 14 4 5 3 2

U13 95
Sept.
Oct. 6 4 1 1

Nov. 19 6 10 3

Dec. 27 4 5 11 7

Jan. 20 2 6 11 1

Feb. 14 3 8 3

Mar. 9 1 1 3 4

U15 38
Sept.
Oct. 3 1 1 1

Nov. 17 1 4 11 1

Dec. 8 2 3 3

Jan. 8 2 5 1

Feb. 1 1

Mar. 1 1

U18 16
Sept.
Oct.
Nov. 4 2 1 1

Dec. 4 4

Jan. 4 2 2

Feb. 4 1 1 2

Mar.

Minor Tournament Sanctions By Age Division - 2021-22

Miscellaneous
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FEMALE Total Date # of Games AAA AA A B C Carded
U7 2

Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec.
Jan.
Feb. 2 2

Mar.
U9 11

Sept.
Oct.
Nov.
Dec. 1 1

Jan. 5 1 1 3

Feb. 2 2

Mar. 3 2 1

U11 20
Sept.
Oct.
Nov. 2 1 1

Dec. 3 1 2

Jan. 8 2 3 3

Feb. 4 3 1

Mar. 3 2 1

U13 14
Sept.
Oct. 1 1
Nov. 3 2 1

Dec. 3 1 1 1

Jan. 2 1 1

Feb. 3 1 2

Mar. 2 1 1

U15 11
Sept.
Oct. 2 1 1

Nov. 4 1 3

Dec. 1 1

Jan. 3 1 2

Feb.
Mar. 1 1

U18 5
Sept.
Oct. 2 1 1

Nov. 1 1

Dec. 1 1

Jan. 1 1

Feb.
Mar.

Total Games 604

Actual sanctions recorded: 701

604 Played

14 FSIN Tournament

83 Cancelled

Miscellaneous
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2021-22 REGISTRATIONS TOTAL

M F M F M F M F M F M F

ABERDEEN MINOR 8 4 16 1 12 1 0 0 16 1 0 0 59

ALAMEDA MINOR 5 2 5 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15

ALLAN MINOR 5 3 7 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18

ARBORFIELD MINOR 7 4 10 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 23

ARCOLA - KISBEY MINOR 6 4 11 2 13 1 17 2 0 0 0 0 56

ASSINIBOIA MINOR 29 10 10 1 18 6 25 0 20 0 22 0 141

AVONLEA MINOR 9 5 6 3 7 7 12 4 0 0 0 0 53

BALCARRES MINOR 10 5 5 8 10 16 14 18 24 15 18 19 162

BATTLEFORDS MINOR 50 20 63 22 54 22 76 18 52 38 82 30 527

BEECHY MINOR 11 9 0 0 0 0 14 1 0 0 0 0 35

BENGOUGH MINOR 11 5 7 3 10 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 39

BIENFAIT MINOR 6 3 7 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18

BIG RIVER FIRST NATION MINOR 0 0 0 0 15 0 18 4 0 0 0 0 37

BIG RIVER MINOR 24 12 8 3 8 2 10 1 16 2 21 0 107

BIGGAR MINOR 27 16 28 10 19 1 17 2 0 0 0 0 120

BIRCH HILLS MINOR 5 3 7 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 17

BREDENBURY MINOR 9 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 10

BROCK MINOR 11 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 14

BRUNO MINOR 18 8 9 2 12 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 52

BUFFALO RIVER MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CABRI MINOR 5 4 14 1 9 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 35

CANOE LAKE MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CANORA MINOR 10 7 0 0 11 5 6 7 20 20 0 0 86

CARIEVALE MINOR 6 3 10 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22

CARLYLE MINOR 21 3 9 2 14 2 14 3 16 0 15 16 115

CARNDUFF MINOR 8 2 8 1 19 3 19 3 17 1 33 1 115

CARONPORT MINOR 12 1 15 2 11 0 9 0 0 0 0 0 50

CARROT RIVER MINOR 15 8 12 1 24 8 15 1 13 2 19 0 118

CENTRAL BUTTE MINOR 21 1 10 3 7 3 14 1 17 0 0 0 77

CHURCHBRIDGE MINOR 11 2 8 2 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 34

CLAVET MINOR 26 7 31 35 29 4 27 3 27 4 35 0 228

COLONSAY MINOR 6 4 8 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20

CONSUL MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CORONACH MINOR 20 8 14 1 11 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 54

COTE FIRST NATION MINOR 0 0 0 0 8 5 7 4 0 0 0 0 24

CUDWORTH MINOR 8 4 12 4 9 2 8 3 0 0 0 0 50

CUPAR MINOR 11 2 0 0 10 4 0 0 17 0 19 1 64

CUT KNIFE MINOR 0 0 0 0 13 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 16

DALMENY MINOR 20 7 10 5 13 0 14 0 0 0 0 0 69

DAVIDSON MINOR 14 7 13 14 24 24 23 6 0 0 18 0 143

DEBDEN MINOR 0 0 10 2 6 2 6 3 0 0 0 0 29

DELISLE MINOR 18 12 24 13 31 11 29 26 27 23 29 2 245

DINSMORE MINOR 0 0 10 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 28 0 45

DODSLAND /PLENTY MINOR 9 10 5 7 15 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 50

DRAKE MINOR 6 4 4 5 10 1 4 4 0 0 0 0 38

DUNDURN MINOR 13 6 20 5 13 2 12 0 0 0 0 0 71

EASTEND MINOR 6 1 8 4 9 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 29

EATONIA MINOR 6 7 11 0 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 35

EDAM MINOR 14 5 7 4 38 8 8 1 19 0 20 0 124

ELROSE MINOR 21 22 10 38 14 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 106

ESTERHAZY MINOR 27 4 19 1 12 0 12 4 14 1 17 1 112

ESTEVAN MINOR 52 15 57 32 52 35 68 25 51 20 82 0 489

ESTON MINOR 12 6 11 5 16 6 12 2 20 1 30 0 121

FIRST NATIONS ASSOCIATION 0 0 164 0 97 0 312 62 165 0 144 95 1039

FOAM LAKE MINOR HOCKEY 17 9 10 3 7 3 9 1 0 0 0 0 59

FORT QU'APPELLE MINOR 15 0 10 3 11 1 15 0 0 0 0 0 55

FOUR NATIONS MINOR 8 9 15 5 22 14 26 2 25 2 0 0 128

FOX VALLEY MINOR 6 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 8

FRONTIER MINOR 7 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

GLASLYN MINOR 5 9 0 0 9 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 29

GOODSOIL MINOR 8 7 10 4 0 0 11 6 0 0 18 2 66

GRAVELBOURG MINOR 19 6 7 4 12 2 14 2 0 0 0 0 66

U18U7 U9 U11 U13 U15
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GRENFELL MINOR 6 2 11 6 14 3 16 0 0 0 0 0 58

GULL LAKE MINOR 5 6 16 9 12 3 17 19 0 0 13 17 117

HAGUE MINOR 14 0 13 3 22 2 10 0 15 0 19 0 98

HANLEY MINOR 10 6 9 8 0 0 10 7 0 0 0 0 50

HANSON LAKE ROAD MINOR 0 0 0 0 7 4 11 8 1 3 0 0 34

HEPBURN MINOR 10 5 14 0 13 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 43

HERBERT MINOR 9 5 9 2 14 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 40

HILLMOND MINOR 18 9 8 4 12 1 11 0 15 1 19 1 99

HOCKEY REGINA INC. 206 57 354 110 342 113 385 95 330 70 287 57 2406

HOLDFAST MINOR 4 3 7 4 5 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 27

HUDSON BAY MINOR 10 3 10 4 19 1 9 0 12 4 13 0 85

HUMBOLDT MINOR 31 7 27 22 43 4 45 2 35 0 49 0 265

ILE A LA CROSSE MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

IMPERIAL MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

INDIAN HEAD MINOR 23 7 26 1 29 3 16 2 19 1 20 0 147

INDIGENOUS SPORTS ACADEMY 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 0 21

ITUNA MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 2 0 0 0 0 13

JRMCC MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 24 1 25

KAMSACK MINOR 14 9 20 10 15 6 11 5 0 0 0 0 90

KELLIHER MINOR 11 5 0 0 9 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 31

KELVINGTON MINOR 8 7 8 6 6 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 38

KENASTON MINOR 7 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12

KERROBERT MINOR 6 3 6 4 21 5 32 2 35 0 48 0 162

KINCAID MINOR 6 9 7 7 6 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 40

KINDERSLEY MINOR 24 5 26 4 21 6 24 0 18 0 21 0 149

KINISTIN MINOR 0 0 10 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15

KINISTINO MINOR 8 3 9 1 12 2 0 0 0 0 21 0 56

KIPLING MINOR 12 3 16 0 13 1 12 0 0 0 20 0 77

KYLE MINOR 15 9 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 24

LA LOCHE MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

LA RONGE MINOR 19 4 19 7 14 14 21 11 17 1 0 0 127

LAFLECHE MINOR 0 0 0 0 10 27 17 14 15 14 17 13 127

LAKE ALMA MINOR HOCKEY 4 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

LAKE LENORE MINOR 7 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 12

LAMPMAN MINOR 5 4 5 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 19 0 36

LANGENBURG MINOR 14 3 11 0 8 2 14 3 12 0 20 0 87

LANGHAM MINOR 18 5 16 0 15 2 15 0 13 2 0 0 86

LANIGAN MINOR 8 7 16 2 22 2 13 0 0 0 19 0 89

LASHBURN MINOR 26 0 13 4 14 0 11 3 15 1 20 1 108

LEADER MINOR 16 2 12 0 15 3 12 2 0 0 0 0 62

LEOVILLE MINOR 5 3 5 2 6 3 11 1 0 0 0 0 36

LEROY MINOR 0 0 11 5 16 21 0 0 0 29 0 12 94

LOREBURN 19''ERS MINOR 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

LUCKY LAKE MINOR 0 0 0 0 9 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

LUMSDEN- BETHUNE MINOR 40 14 26 26 48 33 56 38 38 4 39 0 362

LUSELAND MINOR 16 8 7 1 7 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 43

MACKLIN MINOR 15 12 17 6 13 9 12 1 27 0 20 0 132

MAIDSTONE MINOR 15 1 15 6 13 18 11 2 19 0 0 0 100

MAKWA-SAHGAICAN MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 9 8 0 0 0 0 17

MAPLE CREEK MINOR 14 5 12 1 13 4 14 1 17 0 14 0 95

MARSDEN/NEILBERG MINOR 12 1 8 4 0 0 10 3 0 0 0 0 38

MARTENSVILLE MINOR 46 16 74 25 68 25 77 2 58 1 54 0 446

MEADOW LAKE MINOR 30 12 32 4 37 7 34 9 34 0 16 2 217

MEDSTEAD MINOR 0 0 13 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20

MELFORT MINOR 19 6 23 2 24 4 46 0 32 0 20 0 176

MELVILLE & DISTRICT MINOR 22 3 25 6 29 5 31 24 35 22 41 20 263

MIDALE MINOR 17 13 8 4 13 4 12 2 0 0 0 0 73

MILDEN MINOR 11 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 13

MILESTONE MINOR 13 6 13 7 13 3 12 1 21 0 19 18 126

MONTMARTRE MINOR 9 5 10 3 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 38

MONTREAL LAKE MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

MOOSE JAW MINOR 85 18 91 25 100 33 113 20 75 16 64 0 640

MOOSOMIN FIRST NATION MINOR 0 0 7 9 16 5 14 7 0 0 0 0 58

MOOSOMIN MINOR 31 15 29 13 37 33 20 5 18 0 34 0 235
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MOSSBANK MINOR 9 2 4 2 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 28

MUENSTER MINOR 14 4 14 0 17 4 14 3 14 1 14 0 99

NAICAM MINOR 9 6 8 2 11 1 18 3 14 0 0 0 72

NIPAWIN MINOR 30 3 25 5 11 13 23 2 18 1 15 0 146

NOKOMIS MINOR 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

NORQUAY MINOR 11 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 15

NOTRE DAME 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 43 0 145 37 225

OGEMA MINOR 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 11

OUTLOOK MINOR 9 8 18 2 19 0 15 0 18 0 0 0 89

OXBOW MINOR 8 1 11 1 10 3 19 0 20 0 0 0 73

PARADISE HILL MINOR 7 1 0 0 0 0 8 6 15 0 0 0 37

PENSE MINOR 29 3 17 3 13 6 10 3 0 0 0 0 84

PERDUE MINOR 12 6 9 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 31

PIERCELAND MINOR 8 5 0 0 11 5 0 0 14 1 0 0 44

PINEHOUSE MINOR 0 0 0 0 12 1 13 1 9 0 10 1 47

PONTEIX MINOR 8 1 9 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20

PORCUPINE PLAIN MINOR 12 4 14 1 7 3 12 5 13 1 22 0 94

PRAIRIE HOCKEY ACADEMY 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 16 0 57 0 73

PRAIRIE STORM  MINOR 91 22 96 32 72 20 75 14 81 35 70 21 629

PREECEVILLE MINOR 6 1 13 2 15 4 9 3 0 0 22 0 75

PRINCE ALBERT MINOR 79 13 126 27 95 23 124 26 98 53 76 37 777

QUAD TOWN MINOR 21 9 16 5 12 1 14 2 0 0 0 0 80

QUILL LAKE MINOR 14 10 7 1 8 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 42

RADISSON MINOR 10 3 14 1 0 0 12 0 0 0 0 0 40

RADVILLE MINOR 11 3 17 5 15 19 16 12 18 1 20 0 137

RAYMORE MINOR 0 0 9 0 7 0 12 2 0 0 0 0 30

REDVERS MINOR 15 3 16 4 17 1 14 1 16 4 18 2 111

ROCANVILLE MINOR 13 3 12 3 11 3 8 4 0 0 0 0 57

ROCKGLEN MINOR 4 6 7 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 18

ROSE VALLEY MINOR 11 4 7 7 10 1 11 2 0 0 0 0 53

ROSETOWN MINOR 18 11 14 59 27 72 27 51 18 16 17 14 344

ROSTHERN MINOR 12 1 15 19 12 0 14 1 15 0 0 0 89

ROULEAU MINOR 6 5 9 3 10 2 9 11 0 0 0 0 55

SASKATOON MINOR 424 127 496 127 530 137 541 101 477 102 446 83 3591

SHAUNAVON MINOR 35 6 12 3 35 13 20 4 16 0 19 0 163

SHELLBROOK MINOR 18 3 20 3 15 0 8 8 26 0 35 0 136

SOUTHEND MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

SOUTHEY MINOR 8 12 10 5 14 0 18 0 0 0 0 0 67

SPIRITWOOD MINOR 13 3 13 3 6 6 6 6 0 18 0 0 74

ST. BRIEUX MINOR 6 6 8 4 0 0 11 6 8 0 4 0 53

ST. WALBURG MINOR 11 4 12 5 8 1 9 3 0 0 19 0 72

STANLEY MISSION MINOR 0 0 0 0 8 6 12 2 25 3 0 0 56

STAR CITY MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 19 0 16 55

STRASBOURG MINOR 15 1 9 3 8 3 11 0 16 1 16 0 83

SWIFT CURRENT MINOR 74 23 56 32 56 24 79 30 65 37 78 32 586

TISDALE MINOR 32 9 18 19 31 30 38 5 29 2 65 0 278

TORQUAY MINOR 5 3 8 3 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 19

TURTLEFORD MINOR 8 5 11 18 9 1 13 12 1 16 0 0 94

UNITY MINOR 23 6 18 4 15 5 21 5 23 4 20 0 144

VANSCOY MINOR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

VISCOUNT MINOR 9 8 0 0 9 1 8 5 0 0 0 0 40

WADENA MINOR 15 2 15 5 14 2 14 6 21 0 18 0 112

WAKAW MINOR 16 7 10 2 11 1 9 1 0 0 19 2 78

WALDHEIM MINOR 15 4 7 4 10 5 17 0 18 2 0 0 82

WARMAN MINOR 95 27 91 31 93 41 89 37 69 50 94 27 744

WATROUS MINOR 14 4 20 5 24 5 9 4 17 0 16 1 119

WATSON MINOR 16 3 9 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 30

WAVERLEY MINOR 7 2 0 0 13 4 2 10 0 0 12 0 50

WAWOTA MINOR 8 1 13 8 16 2 16 1 0 0 0 0 65

WEYBURN MINOR 57 26 59 46 72 24 67 28 58 34 57 48 576

70

Miscellaneous

70



WHITE BEAR MINOR 3 7 3 5 11 4 11 7 10 5 10 4 80

WHITEWOOD MINOR 12 0 16 2 10 1 0 0 19 1 17 1 79

WILKIE MINOR 18 5 6 1 14 1 0 0 16 1 20 0 82

WILLOW CREE MINOR 12 9 15 3 4 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 44

WOLSELEY MINOR 13 1 0 0 8 3 11 2 0 0 0 0 38

WYNYARD MINOR 23 8 10 3 13 8 14 1 16 1 18 0 115

YELLOW GRASS MINOR 24 7 33 12 4 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 82

YORKTON MINOR 37 3 46 7 59 6 63 6 60 0 69 1 357

3275 1153 3460 1223 3539 1188 3696 980 2932 708 3179 636 25969

M F Total

SLEDGE 85 15 100

SENIOR 2289 201 2490

JUNIOR 850 0 850

ADULT REC 7486 0 7486

HCSA 214 42 256

REGISTERED COACHES 6149

REGISTERED BENCH STAFF 3313

REGISTERED OFFICIALS 2434

Miscellaneous
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